#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

#### No. 18-1600

#### DEBORAH FERGUSON,

Plaintiff-Appellee,

vs.

## EXIDE TECHNOLOGIES, INC., AND FRED GILBERT

Defendants-Appellants.

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT OF DELAWARE COUNTY THE HONORABLE MICHAEL SHUBATT CASE NO LACV008271

#### FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANTS EXIDE TECHNOLOGIES, INC. AND FRED GILBERT

SIMMONS PERRINE MOYER BERGMAN, PLC Thomas D. Wolle, AT0008564 115 Third Street SE, Suite 1200 Cedar Rapids, IA 52401-1266 Tel: 319-366-7641; Fax: 319-366-1917 twolle@simmonsperrine.com

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANTS EXIDE TECHNOLOGIES, INC. AND FRED GILBERT

## **

#### **STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW**

1. Whether the district court erred in denying summary judgment to Defendants on Plaintiff's claim of wrongful discharge in violation of public policy when the public policy at issue -- Iowa Code section 730.5 -contains a comprehensive remedial scheme available to an employee for an improper drug test, a scheme which Plaintiff pursued in the same action as the parallel wrongful discharge claim.

Authorities:

Iowa Code 730.5

Wallace v. Des Moines Independent Sch. Dist. Bd. Of Dirs., 867 N.W.2d 44 (Iowa 2015)

Iowa Code 730.5(15)

Iowa Code 730.5(8)(f)

*Skipton v S&J Tube, Inc.*, 822 N.W.2d 122 (Iowa App. 2012)

Jasper v. H. Nizam, Inc., 764 N.W.2d 751 (Iowa 2009)

*Thompto v. Coborn's Inc.*, 871 F. Supp. 1086 (N.D. Iowa 1994)

*Borschel v. City of Perry*, 512 N.W.2d 565 (Iowa 1994)

Springer v. Weeks & Leo, 429 N.W.2d 558 (Iowa 1988)

Iowa Code 216

Hamilton v. First Baptist Elderly Hous. Found., 436 N.W.2d 336 (Iowa 1989)

Northrup v. Farmland Industries, Inc., 372 N.W.2d 193 (Iowa 1985) Iowa Chapter 601A

Iowa Code 601A.16(1)

Channon v. United Parcel Serv., 629 N.W.2d 835 (Iowa 2001)

Greenland v. Fairtron, 500 N.W.2d 36, 38 (Iowa 1993)

Van Baale v. City of Des Moines, 550 N.W.2d 153 (Iowa 1996)

Dorshkind v. Oak Park Place, 835 N.W.2d 293 (Iowa 2013)

Berry v. Liberty Holdings, Inc., 803 N.W.2d 106 (Iowa 2011)

Muller v. Hotsy Corp., 917 F. Supp. 1389 (N.D. Iowa 1996)

Lucht v. Encompass Corp., 491 F. Supp. 2d 856 (N.D. Iowa 2007)

George v. Zinser Co., 762 N.W.2d 865 (Iowa 2009)

Iowa Code 88.9(3)

Iowa Code 88.9(3)(2)(b)

Iowa Code 216.16(1)

*Tullis v. Merrill*, 584 N.W.2d 236 (Iowa 1998)

Iowa Code Chapter 91A

Iowa Code Chapter 91A.10(5)

Marcus v. Young, 538 N.W.2d 285, 289 (Iowa 1995)

Eddy v. Casey's General Store, Inc., 485 N.W.2d 633 (Iowa 633)

2. Whether the district court erred in awarding substantial attorneys' fees and expenses to Plaintiff, whose claims were tried to a jury in a threeday trial, where the only the fee-shifting claim was an admitted violation of section 730.5, which is to be tried to the court.

Authorities:

*Boyle v. Alum-Line, Inc.*, 773 N.W.2d 829 (Iowa 2009)

Landals v. George A. Rolfes Co., 454 N.W. 2d 891 (Iowa 1990)

Gabelmann v. NFO, Inc., 606 N.W.2d 339 (Iowa 2000)

Grunin v. Int'l House of Pancakes, 513 F.2d 114 (8th Circ. 1975)

Dutcher v. Randall Foods, 546 N.W.2d 889 (Iowa 1996)

<u>Smith v. Iowa State Uni. of Science and Technology</u>, 885 N.W. 2d 620 (Iowa 2016)

Iowa Code 730.5

Branstad v. State ex rel. Nat. Res. Comm'n, 871 N.W.2d 291 (Iowa 2015)

Bethards v. Shivvers, Inc., 335 N.W.2d 39 (Iowa 1984)

#### **ROUTING STATEMENT**

Defendant submits this case should be retained by the Iowa Supreme Court as it presents a substantial issue of first impression.

#### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

This case involves an appeal of the district court's failure to grant judgment to Defendants<sup>1</sup> on Plaintiff's claim for wrongful discharge in violation of public policy, and the court's determination that Plaintiff was entitled to substantial attorneys' fees and expenses on her statutory claim for a violation of Iowa's drug testing statute. On February 24, 2017, Plaintiff Deborah Ferguson ("Plaintiff"), a former employee of Defendant Exide Technologies, Inc., brought a two-count lawsuit against Defendants alleging: (1) a statutory claim under Iowa Code section 730.5 for violation of Iowa's drug testing statute; and (2) a common law claim for wrongful discharge in violation of public policy. (App. 32-34) Defendants filed a timely Answer denying Plaintiff's claims.<sup>2</sup> (App. 36-39)

On October 27, 2017, Defendant filed a motion for summary judgment on Plaintiff's common law claim for wrongful discharge. (App.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Fred Gilbert and Brenda Saunders were named as individual defendants in addition to Exide Technologies, Inc. Plaintiff dismissed Ms. Saunders on February 28, 2018.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> On August 18, 2017, Defendants amended their Answer to admit that the drug test required of Plaintiff was in violation of Iowa Code section 730.5. (App. 42 [Amended Answer of Defendants,  $\P$  35])

44-45) Plaintiff resisted the motion (App. 54-55), and filed her own motion for summary judgment on the wrongful discharge claim on November 10, 2017. On January 17, 2018, the district court, Judge George Stigler, entered an Order denying Defendants' motion and instead finding that Plaintiff was entitled to summary judgment on the wrongful discharge claim. (App. 86-89)

The case proceeded to trial on March 7, 2018. On March 9, 2018, the jury returned a verdict in favor of Plaintiff on the wrongful discharge claim, awarding \$45,606.40 in lost wages and benefits, and \$12,000 for past mental pain and suffering. On March 9, 2018, the court entered an Order for Judgment in the amount of \$57,606.40 on Count II (the wrongful discharge claim).<sup>3</sup> (App. 90-91)

On April 5, 2018, Plaintiff filed a Motion for Attorneys' Fees and Expenses (App. 94-213), which Defendants resisted. (App. 258-260) On July 20, 2018, the court issued an Order granting judgment on Count I which included an award of \$35,000 in attorneys' fees and \$4,500 in

<sup>3</sup> The parties had stipulated that the verdict for back pay should be reduced by \$3,887.74. Accordingly, on March 15, 2018, the district court entered an Amended Order for judgment in the amount of \$53,718.66. Additionally, the court stated it would issue a separate ruling on the additional issues in count I (the statutory claim) and set a briefing schedule, stating the time period for filing post-trial motions and an appeal would not commence until the court had ruled on count I. (App. 90 [Judgment as to Count II, ¶ 4]) litigation expenses. (App. 308-313) On August 2, 2018, Defendants filed two motions: (1) a Motion to Enlarge or Amend Findings on August 2, 2018 challenging to the court's award of attorneys' fees and expenses (App. 317-342); and (2) a Motion for Judgment Notwithstanding the Verdict on Count II. (App. 314-316) On September 5, 2018, the court entered an Order denying Defendants' Motions. (App. 343-344)

On September 11, 2018, Defendants filed this Notice of Appeal. (App. 343-344)

#### **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

Plaintiff Deborah Ferguson was hired by Exide in 2012 as a laborer. (App. 30 [Petition, ¶ 7]) Her job duties included unloading charged batteries and loading them onto pallets. (App. 31 [Id., ¶ 8]) In October 2016 she told her supervisor her arms were bothering her, and a first report of injury was completed. (App. 60, Plaintiff's Statement of Additional Material Facts in Resistance to Motion for Summary Judgment, ¶ 9, 12]) Exide arranged for Plaintiff to have therapy to alleviate the symptoms, but the pain persisted. (App. 60 [Id., ¶ 13-15]) Accordingly, Exide's plant nurse, Brenda Saunders, made an appointment with Exide's workers' compensation physician. (App. 61 [Id., ¶ 16]) The physician diagnosed Plaintiff with tendonitis of the elbows; he prescribed medication and recommended physical therapy. (App. 61 [Id., ¶ 18-19]) As a result, Ms. Saunders instructed the physician's nurse to require a drug and alcohol test. (App 61 [Id., ¶ 20]) Ms. Saunders and Fred Gilbert, Exide's Human Resources Manager, believed a post-accident substance abuse test was warranted because Plaintiff saw a physician for her work-related injury. (App. 355, 358, 388-389 [Tr. Vol. I., pp. 40, 43; Vol. III, pp. 37-38]) Plaintiff refused the test and was terminated pursuant to Exide's substance abuse policy. (App. 358 [Tr. Vol. I, p. 43])

#### **ARGUMENT**

I. THE DISTRICT COURT IN DENYING EXIDE'S MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT ON PLAINTIFF'S WRONGFUL DISCHARGE CLAIM BECAUSE THE EXCLUSIVE REMEDY FOR A VIOLATION OF SECTION 730.5 IS CONTAINED WITHIN THE STATUTE.

#### A. Standard of Review and Preservation of Error.

The district court granted Plaintiff's motion for summary judgment on the wrongful discharge claim (Count II) thereby denying Defendants' summary judgment motion on the issue. (App. 86-89) The court's review of a district court decision granting or denying a motion for summary judgment is for correction of errors of law. *Wallace v. Des Moines Independent Sch. Dist. Bd. of Dirs.*, 867 N.W.2d 44, 51 (Iowa 2015). The court entered a ruling (not judgment) on the summary judgment issue on January 17, 2018. Judgment was entered on March 9, 2018, and the court stated the "time for filing post-trial motions as to either Count I or II shall not commence, nor shall any appeal period, until the Court has ruled on Count I . . ." (App. 90 [Judgment as to Count II,  $\P$  4) On July 20, 2018, the court entered judgment on Count I, thereby commencing the time period for post-trial motions. (App. 308-313) On August 2, 2018, Defendants filed a motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict on Count II (App. 314-316), which the court denied on September 5, 2018. (App. 343-344) Defendants filed a timely appeal on September 11, 2018. (App. 345-346)

### B. The Trial Court Erred in Failing to Grant Summary Judgment to Defendants on Plaintiff's Wrongful Discharge Claim.

The parties agree Plaintiff was discharged because she refused to submit to an impermissible drug test requested by Defendants.<sup>4</sup> The question presented to this Court is whether Iowa law permits a common law tort claim for wrongful discharge in violation of public policy as an

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Under Iowa Code section 730.5(8)(f), an employer may require an employee to undergo a reasonable suspicion drug or alcohol test "in investigating accidents in the workplace in which the accident resulted in an injury to a person . . ." Defendants mistakenly believed that Plaintiff's need for medical attention due to arm soreness from her cumulative trauma injury was sufficient to justify a "post-accident" drug test. In *Skipton v. S&J Tube, Inc.,* 822 N.W.2d 122 (Iowa App. 2012), the Iowa court of appeals held a cumulative trauma injury was not an "accident" that would justify a post-accident drug test.

additional avenue for compensation beyond the express statutory remedy contained in Iowa Code section 730.5(15). Defendants respectfully suggest it does not. Count I of Plaintiff's petition sought relief under Iowa Code 730.5(15) for the improper drug test. (App. 32-33 [Petition, pp. 3-4]) Count II of the petition -- wrongful discharge in violation of public policy -- relied entirely upon the same facts as count I, except that Plaintiff sought tort damages including emotional distress and punitive damages. (App. 34 [Id., p. 5) *See Jasper v. H. Nizam, Inc.,* 764 N.W.2d 751, 769, 773 (Iowa 2009) (setting forth remedies for public policy discharge). Section 730.5, on the other hand, does not allow for such damages. Rather, in Section 730.5(15), the legislature adopted a precise statutory remedy for a violation of the statute:

15. Civil Remedies. This section may be enforced through a civil action.

a. A person who violates this section or who aids in the violation of this section, is liable to an aggrieved employee for affirmative relief *including reinstatement or hiring, with or without backpay, or any other equitable relief as the court deems appropriate including attorney fees and court costs.* (Emphasis added)

Plaintiff should not be permitted to sidestep the specific statutory remedy prescribed by Section 730.5(15) by pursuing a parallel common law claim based on a violation of that same statute. That is, because the statute expressly prescribes the remedy for a violation of the statute, a parallel tort claim based on the public policy embodied by the statute is unavailable. The tort claim is preempted by the statute.<sup>5</sup>

In *Borschel v. City of Perry*, 512 N.W.2d 565, 567-68 (Iowa 1994), the Iowa Supreme Court considered whether a police officer who was discharged because he was charged with but not convicted of a crime could assert a claim for wrongful discharge in violation of public policy. The court first discussed the notion that Iowa courts have, as an exception to employment at will, recognized a cause of action for discharge in violation of public policy when the employee's termination "is in retaliation for performing an important and socially desirable act, exercising a statutory right, or refusing to commit an unlawful act." *Id.* at 567. The *Borschel* court stated:

The public policy exception is based on the theory that the law should not allow employees to be fired for reasons that violate public policy. Such policies may be expressed in the constitution and the statutes of the state. To be actionable, the discharge must be in violation of a clearly expressed public policy. *Springer v. Weeks & Leo*, 429 N.W.2d 558, 560 (Iowa 1988).

Id. at 567. The court explained that "[t]he legislature may explicitly

prohibit the discharge of an employee who acts in accordance with a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> As explained by the court in *Thompto v. Coborn's Inc.*, 871 F.Supp. 1086 (N.D. Iowa 1994), the notion of "preemption" of the common law claim of retaliatory discharge is the same as saying that the statute (which serves as the basis for the wrongful discharge claim) provides the "exclusive remedy" for such claims. *Id.* at 1121, n.4.

statutory right or duty." *Id.* By way of example, the court cited Iowa Code chapter 216, which expressly prohibits discharging an individual on the basis of age, race, creed, color, sex, national origin, religion, or disability, and which also provides remedies for violation of the statute. Because chapter 216 provides a statutory remedy for a violation, it "preempts an employee's claim that the discharge was in violation of public policy when the claim is premised on discriminatory acts." *Id.* (citing *Hamilton v. First Baptist Elderly Hous. Found.*, 436 N.W.2d 336, 441-42 (Iowa 1989)).

Likewise, in *Northrup v. Farmland Industries, Inc.*, 372 N.W.2d 193 (Iowa 1985), the court held that Plaintiff's claims against his former employer for wrongful discharge in violation of public policy and intentional infliction of emotional distress, which were based on his alcoholism and participation in an alcohol treatment program, were precluded because "[w]e believe that any remedies to which Northrup may be entitled would lie solely under chapter 601A<sup>6</sup> and his independent common-law action cannot be recognized." *Id.* at 197. The court set forth the language in Iowa Code section 601A.16(1) which provides:

A person claiming to be aggrieved by an unfair or discriminatory practice *must* initially seek an administrative relief by filing a complaint with the commission . . . A complainant *after the proper* 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Chapter 601A was the predecessor to Iowa Code Chapter 216.

*filing of a complaint with the commission,* may subsequently commence an action for relief in the district court. . .

*Id.* at 197. The court stated "[i]t is clear from a reading of section 601A.16(1) that the procedure under the civil rights act is exclusive, and a claimant asserting a discriminatory practice must pursue the remedy provided by the act." *Id.* Accordingly, while the Iowa Civil Rights Act does not expressly state the statutory remedy is exclusive, the court held a common law claim for wrongful discharge was not proper.

Additionally, in *Channon v. United Parcel Service, Inc.*, 629 N.W.2d 835 (Iowa 2001), the court held that the Iowa Civil Rights Act provides the "exclusive remedy for particular conduct prohibited by the statute," and that Plaintiff's common law claim of intentional infliction of emotional distress was preempted by the Act. *Id.* at 857-58. The court stated:

Preemption occurs unless the claims are separate and independent, and therefore incidental, causes of action. *Greenland v. Fairton Corp.*, 500 N.W.2d 36, 38 (Iowa 1993) If, under the facts of the case, success on the non-ICRA claims requires proof of discrimination, such claims are not separate and independent.

*Id. See also Van Baale v. City of Des Moines*, 550 N.W.2d 153, 155 (Iowa 1996) ("When a statute grants a new right and creates a corresponding liability unknown at common law, and at the same time points to a specific method for enforcement of the new right, this method must be pursued exclusively.").

Here, Plaintiff's claim of wrongful discharge is not "separate and independent" from the statutory claim under section 730.5. In order to prevail on a claim of wrongful discharge, an employee must prove the existence of a well-recognized public policy that protects the employee's activity and that the conduct (i.e., engaging in protected activity) was the reason for the employee's discharge. Dorshkind v. Oak Park Place, 835 N.W.2d 293 (Iowa 2013) (citing Berry v. Liberty Holdings, Inc., 803 N.W.2d 106, 109 (Iowa 2011)). Here, the public policy that serves as the basis for Plaintiff's wrongful discharge claim is the refusal to take an unauthorized drug test under section 730.5. (App. 34 [Petition,  $\P$  46]) But section 730.5(15) prescribes the express remedy for a violation of section 730.5. As such, there is nothing "separate and independent" about her common law wrongful discharge claim. Because section 730.5(15) contains a comprehensive scheme that prescribes what remedies are available to an employee who has been subjected to an unlawful drug test, the remedy is exclusive. See Borschel, 512 N.W.2d at 567-68 (common law wrongful discharge claim will not lie if statute suppling the policy also provides for remedy).

In *Muller v. Hotsy Corp.*, 917 F.Supp. 1389 (N.D. Iowa 1996), Plaintiff alleged he was discharged because he pursued short-term

disability benefits. He sought recovery against his employer under ERISA and also alleged wrongful discharge in violation of public policy. The court held that "because the ERISA statute provides Muller with a remedy, his claim that he was wrongfully discharged in violation of public policy is not allowed under Iowa law." *Id.* at 1421 (citing *Borschel*, 512 N.W.2d at 567-68) ("wrongful discharge action will not stand if the statute supplying the policy also provides for a remedy.")) *See also Lucht v. Encompass Corp.*, 491 F.Supp.2d 856, 866 (N.D. Iowa 2007) (claim for wrongful discharge not available because FMLA provides exclusive remedy for an employee whose employer interferes with her right to take leave).

In denying Exide's motion for summary judgment, the district court cited *George v. Zinser Co.*, 762 N.W.2d 865 (Iowa 2009). In *Zinser*, the Plaintiff sued for wrongful discharge after he was fired for complaining about unsafe working conditions, claiming that IOSHA created a public policy exception to at will employment. The statute at issue in *Zinser* was Iowa Code section 88.9(3) which states that "a person shall not discharge or in any manner discriminate against an employee because the employee has filed a complaint . . . under this chapter." Section 88.9(3) does not allow an aggrieved employee to pursue a lawsuit in court; rather, it states that "[a]n employee who believes that the employee has been discharged or

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