IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

SUPREME COURT NO. 18-1600
DELAWARE COUNTY NO. LACV008271

DEBORAH FERGUSON,
Plaintiff-Appellee

vs.

EXIDE TECHNOLOGIES, INC. and FRED GILBERT,
Defendants-Appellants

Appeal from the Iowa District Court for Delaware County
The Honorable Michael J. Shubatt

**PLAINTIFF-APPELLEE'S FINAL BRIEF AND
REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT**

David Albrecht AT0012635
david@employmentlawiowa.com

Amy Beck AT0013022
amy@employmentlawiowa.com

FIEDLER LAW FIRM P.L.C.

8831 Windsor Parkway

Johnston, Iowa 50131

Telephone: (515) 254-1999; Facsimile: (515) 254-9923

ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFF-APPELLEE

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

ARGUMENT

I. THE COURT PROPERLY GRANTED SUMMARY JUDGMENT ON PLAINTIFF'S CLAIM OF WRONGFUL DISCHARGE IN VIOLATION OF PUBLIC POLICY

Standard of Review: Plaintiff agrees the standard of review is correction of errors of law. *See* Def. Brief, 7; *Kragnes v. City of Des Moines*, 714 N.W.2d 632, 637 (Iowa 2006).

Preservation of Error: Defendants preserved error only to the question of whether Iowa's Drug Testing Statute preempts a wrongful discharge in violation of public policy claim. (MSJ Ruling at 2-4) (App. 87-89).

On January 17, 2018, Judge George L. Stigler granted Plaintiff's motion for summary judgment in its entirety, finding as a matter of law that Iowa Code section 730.5 does not preempt a wrongful discharge in violation of public policy claim. (MSJ Ruling 2-4) (App. 87-89). Defendants' appeal asserts that Plaintiff's public policy claim is preempted by Iowa's drug testing statute, which is the source of the public policy for her claim. Defendants' argument ignores over 30 years of precedent recognizing statutes as a proper source of public policy for wrongful discharge claims. Like Iowa's Wage Payment Collection Law—a statutory source of public policy already recognized by this Court as an appropriate basis for a wrongful discharge

claim--Iowa's Drug Testing statute does not include a standalone, private cause of action for retaliation. Recognition of such a cause of action is necessary to fully effectuate the statute.

In addition, Defendants' arguments are based on a fundamental misunderstanding about when preemption applies to claims related to the Iowa Civil Rights Act. There is no rule that says common law claims must be "separate and distinct" from statutory claims or that a person might not sometimes have two or more legal claims for the same wrongful conduct. Rather, the reason the ICRA preempts other claims based on the same conduct is because the statute itself indicates its remedies are exclusive. *Northrup v. Farmland Indus., Inc.*, 372 N.W.2d 193, 197 (Iowa 1985). In contrast, the drug testing statute contains no such preemption language.

A. THE IOWA SUPREME COURT HAS CONSISTENTLY LOOKED TO STATUTES AS SOURCES OF PUBLIC POLICY

"Retaliatory discharge claims . . . enforce 'the communal conscience and common sense of our state in matters of public health, safety, morals, and general welfare.'" *Ackerman v. State*, 913 N.W.2d 610, 617 (Iowa 2018) (quoting *Jasper v. H. Nizam, Inc.*, 764 N.W.2d 751, 761 (Iowa 2009)). Merely because a statute includes a private cause of action does not mean it preempts a wrongful discharge in violation of public policy claim. This would fly in the face of purpose of the tort—to protect societal interests, not solely personal interests. *See id.*; *see also Keveney v. Missouri Mil.*

Acad., 304 S.W.3d 98, 102 (Mo. 2010) (recognizing that wrongful discharge is illegal “because it is based on the employer's attempt to condition employment on the violation of public policy expressed in applicable constitutional, statutory or regulatory provisions”); *Retherford v. AT & T Commun. of Mt. States, Inc.*, 844 P.2d 949, 960 (Utah 1992) (recognizing “[a] primary purpose behind giving employees a right to sue for discharges in violation of public policy is to protect the vital state interests embodied in such policies”). The issue is not whether a statutory remedy exists for a person to enforce their personal rights; rather, the ultimate purpose of the tort is to protect the public policy interest served by the statute itself. See *Fitzgerald v. Salsbury Chem., Inc.*, 613 N.W.2d 275, 288 (Iowa 2000)

The Supreme Court has recognized three situations in which a public policy discharge case arises. These include:

- (1) protecting a worker’s refusal to participate in illegal activity;
- (2) ***enforcing a worker’s statutory right***, and
- (3) protecting a worker’s right to engage in whistleblowing.

Dorshkind v. Oak Park Place of Dubuque II, L.L.C., 835 N.W.2d 293, 300–01 (Iowa 2013).

This case involves enforcing a worker’s statutory rights under Iowa’s drug testing statute. Iowa courts have recognized that statutory rights are real only if they can be enforced. Thus, courts have found public policy discharge claims necessary to enforce workers’ rights to:

- file a worker’s compensation claim - *Springer v. Weeks & Leo Co.*, 429 N.W.2d 558, 560 (Iowa 1988);
- refuse to take an illegal polygraph test - *Wilcox v. Hy-Vee Food Stores, Inc.*, 458 N.W.2d 870, 872 (Iowa Ct. App. 1990);
- apply for partial unemployment benefits - *Lara v. Thomas*, 512 N.W.2d 777, 782 (Iowa 1994);
- demand wages - *Tullis v. Merrill*, 584 N.W.2d 236, 239 (Iowa 1998);
- vote, serve on a jury, engage in union activity, and perform national guard duty - *See Fitzgerald*, 613 N.W.2d at 283 n.3.

The Iowa Supreme Court has “consistently held that an employee cannot be discharged in retaliation for enforcing a statutory right.” *Dorsbkind*, 835 N.W.2d at 300. In *Dorsbkind*, the Court noted that it looks primarily to statutes when determining whether “an implied or express public policy exists.” *Id.* at 303; *see also Jasper*, 764 N.W.2d at 762 (citing *Springer*, 429 N.W.2d at 561 (Because “[t]he legislature is the branch of government responsible for advancing public policy,” the “courts can be assured that the tort is advancing ‘a legislatively declared goal’ when public policy is derived from a statute.”)); *Harvey v. Care Initiatives, Inc.*, 634 N.W.2d 681, 685 (Iowa 2001). Thus, a wrongful discharge in violation of public policy claim may arise from the same set of facts giving rise to a statutory claim. *Fitzgerald*, 613 N.W.2d at 283 (“In determining whether a clear, well-recognized public policy exists for purposes of a cause of action, we have primarily looked to our statutes”). Yet, Defendants are claiming that if a statutory remedy exists, a wrongful discharge in

violation of public policy claim is preempted. Defendants' argument ignores 30 years of precedent to the contrary. *See Springer*, 429 N.W.2d at 560.

B. THE EXISTENCE OF A STATUTORY REMEDY DOES NOT DOOM A CLAIM FOR WRONGFUL DISCHARGE IN VIOLATION OF PUBLIC POLICY

The Iowa Supreme Court has recognized public policy discharge claims when a statute lacks specific language allowing for a cause of action as well as when a statute *does* contain such language. The availability of a private remedy has not stopped Iowa appellate courts from allowing a wrongful discharge in violation of public policy claim to proceed. *See Tullis*, 584 N.W.2d at 238 (wrongful discharge for demanding wages); *George v. D.W. Zinser Co.*, 762 N.W.2d 865, 871 (Iowa 2009) (wrongful discharge for reporting workplace safety violations). As a matter of fact, in *Fitzgerald*, the Supreme Court made clear it did not “**limit** the public policy exception to specific statutes which mandate protection for employees.” *Fitzgerald*, 613 N.W.2d at 283 (emphasis added). There would be no need for such a disclaimer if the existence of statutory protection for employees ruled out the possibility that a public policy discharge claim might be based on the statute.

For instance, the IOSHA statute includes an administrative procedure whereby an employee who is fired for complaining about unsafe working conditions can file an agency complaint and obtain relief. *See IOWA CODE* § 88.9(3); *George*, 762 N.W.2d at 872. Nevertheless, in *George v. D.W. Zinser Co.*, the court held the plaintiff could proceed with his public policy claim in court. *Id.* It relied on the fact that the statute

contained no language to indicate the administrative remedy was meant to be exclusive. *Id.*

We hold that the remedy set forth in Iowa Code section 88.9(3) does not preclude an employee from bringing a common law action for wrongful discharge. The policy of encouraging employees to improve workplace safety and the fact that the statute contains permissive and not mandatory language point in favor of allowing a common law action.

Id.

The same is true with respect to Iowa's Wage Payment Collection Law, which expressly forbids the discharge or retaliation of a worker who files a complaint about wages. IOWA CODE § 91A.10(5). The WPCL also provides for an administrative agency process by which aggrieved employees can seek relief. *Id.* Yet in *Tullis*, 584 N.W.2d at 240, the court upheld a jury verdict against the employer for wrongful discharge in violation of public policy after the employee was fired for making a complaint related to unpaid wages.¹ It noted that “by sanctioning wrongful discharge actions for contravention of a public policy which has been articulated in a statutory scheme, we are acting to advance a legislatively declared goal.” *Id.* (quoting *Springer*, 429 N.W.2d at 561). Thus, even if a statute contains a mechanism for relief, that will

¹ Although the court refused to address a defense argument that Chapter 91A did not provide for a private cause of action for retaliation, it seems clear from the rest of the opinion that such an argument would have been soundly rejected. *See Tullis*, 584 N.W.2d at 239 n.3.

not affect the availability of a public policy discharge claim, unless the statute itself indicates that its own mechanism is exclusive.²

Defendants claim *Tullis* and *George* are distinguishable because “Iowa Code section 730.5(15) does not prescribe an administrative remedy; rather, it provides a private right of action to an aggrieved employee in district court and sets forth the specific judicial remedy.” Def. Br. 16.

But the same is true of the WPCL. Employees can, *and often do*, bring private causes of action directly to court for violations of Chapter 91A. *See* IOWA CODE §§ 91A.8, 91A.10(3). For example, an employee who has not been paid overtime, may file a lawsuit against her employer—circumventing the administrative remedies provided by the Iowa Department of Labor. Similarly, employees and prospective employees may bring a private cause of action for drug and alcohol testing violations under Iowa Code section 730.5(15).

²The only statutes the Supreme Court has indicated fall into that category is the Iowa Civil Rights Act and Iowa Code 70A.28. *See Hamilton v. First Baptist Elderly Housing Found.*, 436 N.W.2d 336, 341-42 (Iowa 1989); *Northrup v. Farmland Indus., Inc.*, 372 N.W.2d 193, 197 (Iowa 1985); *Walsh v. Wablert*, 913 N.W.2d 517, 526 (Iowa 2018). The ICRA contains a complex remedial plan and says a person claiming a violation “*must*” go through the administrative agency process before seeking relief in court. *Northrup*, at 196; IOWA CODE § 216.16(1). Likewise, Iowa Code 70A.28 is a civil service statute that provides a comprehensive framework for the resolution of whistleblower retaliation claims. *See Walsh*, 913 N.W.2d at 526; *see also Van Baale v. City of Des Moines*, 550 N.W.2d 153, 155 (Iowa 1996).

The Iowa Supreme Court has never indicated that the absence of a private cause of action was relevant as to its recognition of a wrongful discharge claim. *See Tullis*, 584 N.W.2d at 239; *George*, 762 N.W.2d at 872. Rather, the focus has consistently been on whether the presence of administrative remedies indicate an intent by the legislature to preempt a common law cause of action. In both *Tullis* and *George*, the Iowa Supreme Court found the administrative remedies in Iowa Code sections 91A.10(5) and 88.9(3) did not preclude a public policy claim because they were permissive, in that a plaintiff “may” file administrative complaints. *See Tullis*, 584 N.W.2d at 239; *George*, 762 N.W.2d at 872; *cf.* Iowa Code § 216.16(1) (“A person claiming to be aggrieved by an unfair or discriminatory practice *must* initially seek an administrative relief by filing a complaint with the commission”) (emphasis added). The Court found that if the legislature “had intended section 88.9(3) to be the exclusive remedy and preclude a private cause of action, it could have done so expressly.” *George*, 762 N.W.2d at 872.; *see also Ferrell v. IBP, Inc.*, 1999 WL 33656878, at *11 (N.D. Iowa Aug. 24, 1999) (finding if the legislature had wanted to foreclose a common law cause of action for violations of section 88.9(3), it could have done so expressly). Thus, the absence of an administrative remedy in section 730.5 further supports that the statutory scheme is permissive, not preemptive.

Chapters 91A and 88 are different from the drug testing statute in that Iowa Code sections 91A.10(5) and 88.9(3) include specific retaliation provisions; Iowa Code section 730.5 does not. There is nothing in Iowa Code section 730.5 that says it is

illegal for an employer to fire an employee who refuses to submit to an illegal drug test. Defendants demanded that Deb submit to a post-accident test when there was no accident. This violated section 730.5 and is why the test was illegal. Firing Deb for refusing to submit to the illegal test was an act separate from the initial statutory violation and an act not prohibited by any specific provision found in Iowa Code section 730.5. The lack of a retaliation remedy makes a wrongful discharge in violation of public policy claim even more essential. Otherwise, there would be no deterrent for employers who disregard the statute's requirements and the public policy would be undermined. Such a situation was contemplated in *Borschel v. City of Perry*, 512 N.W.2d 565, 568 (Iowa 1994), where the court noted that some workers' rights statutes do not contain any express prohibition on retaliation against workers who exercise those rights. In those instances, a prohibition against retaliation will be implied by the courts. *Id.*

This was the case in *Wilcox v. Hy-Vee Food Stores, Inc.* There, the Iowa Court of Appeals recognized that Iowa's Polygraph Testing Statute could serve as a public policy basis for a wrongful discharge claim and held the defendant violated public policy when it fired the plaintiff for refusing to take a polygraph test that violated Iowa Code section 730.4. *Wilcox*, 458 N.W.2d at 872. Like the drug testing statute, the polygraph testing statute did not include a specific anti-retaliation provision. Moreover, the nature of refusing an illegal polygraph test has much in common with the right to refuse to take an illegal drug test which is at issue in the case at bar. The

polygraph statute and the drug testing statute both protect employee privacy concerns from overreaching employers.

Notably, in between the *Wilcox* plaintiff's termination and the *Wilcox* Court of Appeals' holding, the legislature amended section 730.4 to specifically set forth a private right of action—using almost identical language to that in Iowa's Drug Testing Statute. *Id.*; cf. IOWA CODE §§ 730.4(5)(a)(1) and 730.5(15)(a)(1).³ In its opinion, the Court of Appeals did not indicate that this addition would have changed the case's result. Even more telling is that the Iowa Supreme Court and Iowa Court of Appeals have repeatedly cited *Wilcox* with approval even after section 730.4 was amended to set forth a private right of action. *Borschel v. City of Perry*, 512 N.W.2d 565, 568 (Iowa 1994); *Lara v. Thomas*, 512 N.W.2d 777, 782 (Iowa 1994); *Butts v. Univ. of Osteopathic Med. & Health Scis.*, 561 N.W.2d 838, 841-42 (Iowa Ct. App. 1997), *overruled on other grounds by Teachout v. Forest City Cmty. Sch. Dist.*, 584 N.W.2d 296 (Iowa 1998); *Hahn v. Stock*, 1996 WL 870828, at *2 (Iowa Ct. App. Dec. 20, 1996); *Smuck v. Nat'l Mgt. Corp.*, 540 N.W.2d 669, 672 (Iowa Ct. App. 1995). Iowa appellate courts' analysis of *Wilcox* and Iowa Code section 730.4 is consistent with the conclusion that Iowa Code 730.5 serves as a source of public policy for a wrongful discharge claim.

³ For example, both statutes place the burden of proof on the employer to establish the requirements for testing have been met. IOWA CODE §§ 730.4(2)(b); 730.5(15)(b).

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